STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 11, 1982, the grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, JUAN F. RAMOS, with the first degree premeditated murder of Mary Sue Cobb, in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1981). (R 2232-2233) Several pre-trial motions were filed including three motions to suppress (R 2291-2292, 2293-2294, 2457-2458) and a motion for change of venue. (R 2395-2400) The change of venue motion was granted, (R 1749-1750) but the motions to suppress were all denied. (R 2443, 1741, 1768)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on January 17-25, 1983 with the Honorable J. William Woodson, Circuit Judge presiding. (R 1-1611) Following deliberations, the jury returned a verdict finding Appellant guilty as charged, of premeditated murder. (R 1607, 2290) On January 26, 1983, the penalty phase of Appellant's trial was held resulting in a jury recommendation that Appellant be sentenced to life imprisonment without parole

- 1 -

for twenty-five (25) years. (R 2229, 2334) A motion for new trial was filed on February 4, 1983. (R 2286-2288) A hearing on the motion was held on March 10, 1983. (R 1614-1642) Judge Woodson denied the motion. (R 1642) Denying Appellant's motion for continuance of the sentencing proceedings (R 2261-2263, 1642-1657), Judge Woodson sentenced Appellant to death, overriding the jury recommendation. (R 1718, 2256-2260) In so ruling, Judge Woodson found four aggravating circumstances applicable and "very little of any specific mitigating circumstances." (R 1718, 2256-2260)

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 17, 1983. (R 2254) Appellant was adjudged insolvent for purposes of appeal and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant in this appeal. (R 2252, 2234)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. GUILT PHASE

In August, 1981, Appellant and his wife moved to Brevard County. (R 1369) Appellant got a job working for Armorflite in September, 1981. (R 1372) From the rear of Armorflite, the workers would watch a woman sunbathing in her backyard. (R 553, 567) Occasionally, the workers would use a pair of cheap, toy binoculars to look at the woman. (R 552, 567) Appellant also used to look at the woman through the binoculars. (R 550, 563) Appellant commented that the woman was good-looking and he would like to make love to her. (R 550, 564) The last anyone could recall Appellant looking at the woman was in February 1982. (R 546, 561) The woman was Mary Sue Cobb.

Appellant and his wife met Marc and Sue Cobb sometime in January, 1982. (R 276, 1372) The Cobbs were both involved in Amway and interested Appellant in it also. (R 277, 464, 1408) Appellant expressed concern for the safety of Sue Cobb and warned her husband about it, even suggesting that the Cobbs buy a dog for protection. (R 292, 1392) The Cobbs' house had been burglarized about six months prior. (R 291, 1392)

On Thursday, April 22, 1982, neither Appellant nor his wife went to work. (R 1373-1374, 634) Appellant helped his brother-in-law and sister-in-law move to another house. (R 1374) Sometime on Thursday, Appellant stopped in to talk to Sue Cobb and to pay her part of what he owed for a bottle of Amway industrial cleaner. (R 737, 277) On Friday, April 23, 1982, Marc and

- 3 -

Sue Cobb got up at 6:00 A.M. and read the Bible. (R 249) Sue drove Marc to work because she needed the car that day. (R 250) Marc called Sue at 7:40 A.M. to remind her to bring the checkbook with her when she met him for lunch at 11:45 A.M. (R 250) Marc recalled that the telephone answering service was turned on that morning. (R 259) When Rebecca Stone called Sue at 9:40 A.M., the machine was not working. (R 465) When Sue failed to meet Marc at lunchtime, he got worried and called about five different places trying to locate her. (R 253-254, 398) Mike Tabeling, Marc's boss drove Marc home to look for his wife. (R 254, 399) While Mike waited outside, Marc went inside to look for Sue, stopping to pick up a United Parcel package which had been left on the porch. (R 257) Marc discovered the body of Sue in the doorway to the bedroom, with a large knife still protruding shoulder area. (R 257, 263) Marc yelled for Mike who came inside and also observed the body. (R 263, 401) Mike ran outside and eventually contacted some people at Armorflite who then called the police. (R 402) An autopsy was performed which revealed three major groupings of stab wounds, one in the left breast, one in the lover left neck and one in the clavicle. (R 303-305) There were seventeen stab wounds in all. (R 304) There were also rope marks on the victim's neck. (R 307) The cause of death was the knife wounds to the heart and lungs resulting in massive hemorrhaging. (R 308) Death occurred within two or three minutes. (R 313) The rope around her neck could have caused the victim to lose consciousness. (R 317)Although it was not possible to determine the order in which the

- 4 -

wounds were inflicted, most of the wounds were caused by a knife smaller than the one left imbedded in the victim. (R 314, 310) It is possible that the knife was imbedded in the victim after she was dead. (R 328)

When the police arrived, the house was secured and processed. (R 435-437) Latent prints were lifted from the doorway near the body (R 593), from the counter board at the kitchen sink (R 595), and from the door of the Cobbs' volkswagen. (R 594) Footprints were found, but because of the texture of the soil, it was impossible to make plaster casts of them. (R 623) The latent prints were taken to the Sanford Crime Lab, along with items of the victim's clothing, rectal and vaginal washings, pubic and head hair samples of the victim and a piece of bloody carpet. (R 333-334, 1020, 1063-1064, 1107) Tests revealed the presence of nonmotile spermatozoa in the vaginal washing and semen in both the vaginal and rectal washings. (R 333-334, 1020) These findings indicated that the depositor was a type - O secretor. (R 1020-1021) Appellant, Marc Cobb and Paul Hunter were type - O secretors. (R 1024, 1025, 1029) Marc and Susan had had intercourse Wednesday evening prior to Susan's death. (R 275) The medical expert was unable to determine how long or when the spermatozoa had been deposited. (R 336) One blond head hair was found in the victim's pubic area which was not Marc Cobb's, Appellant's or Paul Hunter's. (R 1064, 1066-1068)

An analysis of the latent prints revealed that they were not Appellant's. (R 766, 770, 771) The latent print

- 5 -

analyst was never given elimination prints of any other persons to which the latents could be compared. (R 773)

On April 23, 1983, Appellant awoke at 6:30 A.M. and went to work at 7:00 A.M. only to find that he had been laid off. (R 1379, 734) Appellant returned home at 7:10 A.M. and told his wife he had been laid off and got back into bed with her. (R 735, 1382) They remained in bed until Appellant's brother-in-law came by at 2:00 P.M. (R 1384, 706) Appellant went to a meeting at Armorflite at 3:30 P.M. (R 1384, 1388, 945, 634) Appellant's supervisor, Manny Ruiz did not see Appellant at 7:00 A.M. but gave him his lay-off letter around noon. (R 631, 632) Ruiz did not recall if he gave Appellant his paycheck. (R 634) Jim Bateman, another employee at Armorflite, did not see Appellant at 7:00 A.M., though it's possible he just missed him. (R 939, 942)

Doris Eastes, who lives next door to Appellant, recalled seeing Appellant run past her house toward his own house at 8:15 A.M. on Friday morning. (R 949, 958) Appellant was shirtless, with his shirt sticking out of his back pocket. (R 950, 957)

During the entire week leading up to April 23, 1982, Paul Hunter was clearing the orange grove next to the Cobb house. (R 980) On April 23, 1982, he drove his pick-up with a flat-bed attached for the purpose of hauling away the trash and shrubs cleaned out of the grove. (R 982) Hunter arrived no earlier than 8:30 A.M. (R 991) Sometime between 9:00 A.M. and 10:00 A.M. Appellant saw a Cuban-looking man running very fast past the orange grove. (R 983-984, 1004) Neither Doris Eastes nor Paul

. - 6 -

Hunter immediately told the police of seeing either Appellant or this Cuban. (R 963-964, 986)

In December, 1982, Robert Eastes, while visiting his grandparents, was walking along the railroad tracks near the Cobb house. (R 483) He found a knife partially covered which he took to his grandparents' house. (R 484-485) The police were notified and came and took possession of the knife. (R 953, 485)

Michael Lukon, a cellmate of Appellant at the Brevard County Jail, recalled that after Appellant returned from court one day he appeared nervous and excited. (R 967-968) Appellant at first said he was nervous about the faucet where he washed his hands, but then changed it to "whoever washed their hands." (R 968) However, Appellant speaks broken English and gets mixed up all the time. (R 973) Lukon never mentioned this to anyone until he heard that the prosecutor was going to recommend that he be sentenced to two years in prison. (R 971, 972) Lukon subsequently was given straight probation. (R 972)

Another cellmate, James Gilmore, claimed that Appellant told him that on the day of Sue Cobb's murder, he got up, went to work and found out he was laid off. (R 349) Appellant got mad, left and went to a lady's house to pick up some cosmetics. (R 349) Appellant knocked at her door, and she answered, looking good. (R 350) Appellant went inside, the woman became frightened and began to scream. (R 350) Appellant then made a gesture with his hands and said "pow, pow, pow." (R 350) Appellant then told Gilmore that "they" say he went the same way home as he had come, but that was wrong. (R 352) Appellant then

- 7 -

drew a diagram, showing Gilmore the path he took. (R 352) Appellant got home, washed up and went back to bed. (R 353) Gilmore never mentioned this to his attorney even though he was specifically asked if he knew anything. (R 875) Gilmore was a three-time convicted felon who had eight other felony charges pending. (R 365) Gilmore claimed the reason he did not tell his attorney what Appellant told him was because he was afraid he'd lose her as his attorney. (R 376) At one point, Gilmore heard that as far as his charges were concerned, the state attorney had revoked all deals and were going to seek habitual offender sentencing. (R 383) On December 10, 1982, after hearing this, Gilmore asked Glen Jenkins, a correctional officer at the jail whether information about the Cobb murder would help his (R 304) At this time, Gilmore gave his version of sentence. what Appellant supposedly told him. Gilmore immediately achieved trustee status at the jail. (R 385) The diagram was later found among Appellant's personal belongings in his cell. (R 445, 446, At the bottom of the diagram, written in Spanish, was a 450) phrase which literally translated into "places where I went the date prior that Susan died and it's understood, and I remember what I did the day that she died, and may she rest in peace." (R 442)

Appellant was interviewed by Investigator Wayne Porter on April 29, 1982, during which he denied any knowledge of where the victim's body was found. (R 738) However the next day, Appellant went up to Porter and told him that he had lied because his wife had read in the newspaper where the body was found and

- 8 -

had told him. (R 740, 649) When Appellant was questioned by Sergeant Rios, he initially denied knowledge of the knife left imbedded in the victim but later admitted he did know. (R 651-652) Although tape recorders were available, none were used when Appellant was questioned. (R 659, 671, 748) During the questioning of Appellant by Sergeant Rios, he was handling a pack of cigarettes which was later retrieved from the conference room after the interrogation ended. (R 677)

On April 30, 1982, two scent discrimination lineups were conducted at the Cocoa Police Department in the same room where Appellant had earlier been interrogated for nearly seven or eight hours. (R 813, 658) The first lineup consisted of five blue shirts, four of which belonged to the husband of the secretary of Police Chief Corlew. (R 1125, 1053) The fifth shirt was the one which the victim had been wearing when she was killed. (R 1125) This shirt was the only one with blood on it and was placed in the number five position. (R 1126) John Preston then brought his dog, Harass, into the room and scented him with the cigarette pack which had earlier been handled by Appellant. (R 1131, 1249) Beginning with shirt number one, the dog walked past each shirt. (R 1132, 1251) When the dog got to shirt number five, he put his head down and sniffed it. (R 1132, 1251) Preston led the dog away, turned him around , and the dog immediately returned to shirt number five, nearly sitting on it. (R 1133-1134, 1251, 909) The second lineup consisted of three knives received from the Dixie Diner, one knife from a police officer and the knife found imbedded in the victim's body. (R

```
- 9 -
```

1128) This knife was placed in position number three. (R 1129) Preston again brought Harass into the room and again scented him with the cigarette pack. (R 1137, 1252) The dog then began at number one and dropped his head when it got to number three. (R 1138, 1253) Preston led the dog away, turned around and the dog immediately returned to knife number three and began to lick it. (R 1139, 911)

B. PENALTY PHASE

While in Brevard County Jail, James Gilmore a cellmate of Appellant, sent a note to the guards telling them Appellant had weapons. (R 2116, 2117) A search of Appellant's cell, revealed homemade brass knuckles in his bed. (R 2112, 2125) Appellant thinks that Gilmore planted them in his bunk because of an argument they had. (R 2182, 2184)

Before coming to America from Cuba, Appellant spent some time in a Cuban jail as a result of a fight he had with a soldier which occurred when he refused to follow an order and work in the cane field for no pay. (R 2109-2153) While at work, Appellant say a young boy subjected to a homosexual attack by four men. (R 2155) The boy was screaming, so Appellant picked up a stick and hit one of the men. (R 2155) As he did this, someone approached Appellant from the rear and grabbed, causing Appellant to turn around swinging the stick. (R 2155) It turned out to be an officer and Appellant was taken to jail for disturbing the peace. (R 2156) Appellant was facing more than ten years in prison. (R 2158) Appellant's mother told him that a psychologist friend told her that Appellant should do something crazy which would keep him out of prison. (R 2158, 2159) Appellant cut off three fingers and was released. (R 2159-2160) Later, in order to escape from Cuba, Appellant claimed he was insane and his mother and brother claimed they were homosexuals. (R 2164-2165)

Appellant had never exhibited any signs of violence. (R 2134, 2137, 2141, 2145, 2151) Appellant has never been in

- 11 -

trouble at all. (R 2135, 2138, 2146, 2151) Appellant has never caused any problems in jail. (R 2143) Appellant is truthful and hard-working. (R 2135, 2138, 2139, 2142, 2145, 2149)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE TESTIMONY WITH REGARD TO THE DOG-SCENT DISCRIMINATION LINE-UPS.

Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress any evidence regarding dog scent discrimination lineups on the grounds that the state could not show a proper predicate for its admission in that no reliable controls were placed on the tests and the dog was subjected to testing to insure accuracy. (R2457-2458) At the hearing on the motion, the dog handler, John Preston, testified that he did not feel it was necessary to have his dog tested for accuracy and skill by any of the national organization such as the United States Police Canine Association, the American Kennel Club, or Schutzhund U.S.A. (R1879-1880) At the time the scent lineups were conducted no efforts were made to videotape them. (R1813-1814)

Florida has recognized the admissibility of dog trailing evidence to prove identity of an accused in a criminal prosecution. <u>Tomlinson v. State</u>, 129 Fla. 658, 176 So. 543 (1937). However, it is required that prior to allowing such evidence, a proper predicate must be laid. In <u>Schell v. State</u>, 72 Ga.App. 804, 35 S.E.2d 325 (1945), the court held that before evidence of the conduct of bloodhound alleged to have been put upon the trail of the defendant could be properly received in evidence, it must appear that the dog was able, at the time and under the circumstances, to follow the scent of a person, and that when such a foundation has been laid, the evidence could be used as a circumstance in determining the guilt of the accused.

- 13 -

In <u>State v. McLeod</u>, 196 N.C. 542, 146 S.E. 409 (1929), the Court adopted the following criteria in determining whether such evidence is admissible in a criminal case:

> That they are of pure blood, and of (1)a stock characterized by acuteness of scent and power of discrimination; (2) that they possess these qualities, and have been accustomed and trained to pursue the human track; (3) that they have been found by experience reliable in such pursuit; (4) and that in the particular case they were put on the trail of the guilty party (who) . . . was pursued and followed under such circumstances and in such way as to afford substantial assurance, or permit a reasonable inference, of identification.

Id. at 545, 146 S.E. at 411.

Many courts have refused to permit such evidence in criminal cases. In <u>State v. Grba</u>, 196 Iowa 241, 194 N.W. 250 (1923) the court stated:

> The evidence is in the nature of expert testimony, with no opportunity whatever to cross-examine the expert or find out from any source any reason for the conduct of the dogs, or why they should choose one direction, or one trail, rather than another, as was done in the instant case. Notwithstanding that the majority of the courts of the country, especially in the southern states, have sustained the admissibility of evidence of this character, we are disposed to the view that the better reasoning requires that such evidence should be excluded, and we are inclined to ally ourselves with the supreme courts of Nebraska, Illinois, and Indiana in rejecting such evidence. The life and liberty of any citizen should not be placed in jeopardy or be forfeited upon evidence of the conduct of a dog. The instant case furnishes an excellent sample of the inherent weakness of evidence of this character. All of the

courts that admit such evidence concede that it is merely a circumstance and is "of the weakest character." If the bloodhound is infallible because of his animal instincts, then evidence of his conduct in tracing a human being would rather be of the highest character then "merely a circumstance of the weakest character." If invariable animal instinct guides him accurately in the matter, then his conduct in trailing an alleged criminal would be quite It is conceded by all conclusive. courts, and must be from the facts of the case, that the bloodhound is not infallible, that he does make mistakes, and that he does not invariably follow a trail without deflection therefrom and with absolute certainty; in other words, the bloodhound may be right in what he does, and he may by wholly wrong. How is it possible to know in any particular case whether he is right or wrong?

In the instant case, the procedural safeguards were not met and thus the evidence of the scent discrimination tests was inadmissible. Initially, it must be noted that although videotape equipment was available, none was used to preserve the lineup. Secondly, the dog handler had never submitted his dog, Harass II to independent testing. Thus, the only evidence concerning the reliability of Harass II came from its owner and one of the owner's students, Kenneth Stayer. The evidence belies the dog's ability.

The scent discrimination lineups were conducted in a courtroom at the Cocoa Police Department. (R 641) The scenting arcile was a cigarette pack taken from Appellant. (R 677) The evidence was clear that if Captain Pickel had touched the pack, once Harass sniffed it he immediately would have approached Pickel in the courtroom and nuzzled him in the groin. (R 1452, 1454) However, the dog instead alerted on one of the items in each lineup. What is somewhat surprising is that the room where the lineup was conducted is the same room in which Appellant had spent approximately eight hours being questioned. (R 657-658) However, Harass II apparantly did not alert anywhere in the room except on the two items in the lineups, not even the chair in which Appellant sat for eight hours that very day! Certainly, this brings into question not only the ability of the dog but also the credibility of its trainer

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