FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPREME COURT

FEB 2 1984

JUAN F. RAMOS,

Appellant,

Vs.

CASE NO. 63,444

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

)

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SEAN DALY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Ave., 4th Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

ARGUMENT

The Appellant claims that the trial court should have refused to admit certain testimony regarding dog-scent discrimination line-ups performed by a German Shepherd (Harass II) in this case because no proper predicate for the admission of such testimony had been shown. The Appellant's pre-trial motion to suppress asserting just this ground was heard, inter alia, before the trial court and denied (R 2457-2458, 1773-2039). A review of the testimony and argument presented at that hearing as well as the discussion by the trial judge below reveals the total lack of merit in the Appellant's argument.

The Appellant concedes that this Court has recognized the admissibility of dog trailing evidence to prove identity of an accused in a criminal prosecution provided a proper preliminary foundation has been laid. Tomlinson v. State, 129 Fla. 658, 176 So. 543 (1937); Davis v. State, 46 Fla. 137, 35 So. 76 (1903). However, the Appellant is apparently unsatisfied with the criteria established by this Court and at least one other state court for evaluating the admissibility of such testimony. In Davis v. State, supra, the Court stated that testimony as to the actions of scent-tracking dogs was admissible as long as preliminary proof of the character of that

 $^{^{1}(\}mbox{R}\mbox{\ })$ refers to the record on appeal; (AB $\mbox{\ }$) refers to the Appellant's initial brief.

dog was presented to show that reliance might reasonably be based upon the accuracy of the trailing attempted to be proved. Accordingly, there should first be testimony from someone who has personal knowledge of that fact that the dog used has an acuteness of scent and power of discrimination which have been tested in the tracking of human beings; furthermore, the intelligence, training and purity of the breed are all proper matters for consideration in determining the admissibility of such evidence, as is the behavior of the dog in its tracking task. In Tomlinson v. State, supra, the Court determined that certain testimony relating to the conduct of a trailing dog was properly admitted as competent because the character and dependability of the dog used in the case was "thoroughly established by the testimony of witnesses who had used the dog as a man trailer for many months." 176 So. at 545.

In Edwards v. State, 390 So.2d 1239, 1240 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), the Court applied a similar predicate standard for the admissibility of dog tracking/scent testimony:

Appellant argued that the evidence concerning the trailing of Wrinkles (tracking dog) should not have been introduced because of Wrinkles' young age. We disagree. At trial a proper predicate was laid for the admissibility of this evidence. Wrinkles' former owner, as well as his present trainer, testified to the training methods used with Wrinkles and his prior record of tracking humans. Previously he had been used successfully on four or five different occasions to track escapees from jail. Wrinkles was a purebred registered bloodhound and he was put down on a trial which the officers had visually followed from the house to the point where he started. There was no hesitation on Wrinkles' part in following the trial to appellant's vehicle. See Tomlinson v. State, 129 Fla. 658, 176 So. 543 (1937). See generally, Annot. 18 A.L.R.3d 1221 (1968).

Appellant's challenge to the adequacy of the predicate for admissibility of the dog-scent testimony is limited to his claim that because video tape equipment was not available to preserve the line-up and because the dog - Harass II - was not submitted to independent testing by an authority which the Appellant deems adequate, the testimony should not be admitted. Yet, the testimony adduced at the suppression hearing clearly revealed the character and dependability of Harass II in both tracking and scent discrimination line-up situations. Both John Preston, the dog's trainer and handler, and Kenneth Stayer, an individual trained by Preston who had accompanied him and Harass II in the conducting of some thirty-five (35) to forty (40) scent discrimination line-ups, testified to the dog's extreme reliability in both tracking and scent discrimination line-up situations (R 1828-1832, 1885-1890). Preston specifically explained both the theory and training involved in man trailing and scent discrimination by dogs, as well as the specific training undergone by Harass II, and he noted that he had participated in over a thousand (1,000) scent discrimination line-ups with Harass II (R 1817-1831). Preston had testified as an expert in the field of training and performing man trailing and scent discrimination tests with dogs in both state and federal courts, and the efforts of Harass II in scent discrimination line-ups had also been testified to by Preston in such courts of law (R 1820-1822, 1831).

Preston described Harass II as a purebred German Shepherd and explained that the dog held what was akin to a master's degree in tracking (R 1828-1832). He further noted that he had confirmed Harass II's abilities in numerous cases, and the dog's determinations have been corroborated in the cases he has worked to such an extent that in his expert opinion the dog has proven very reliable (R 1830-1832).

Preston's evaluation of Harass II's talents was bolstered by the testimony of Stayer who noted that he himself had conducted numerous tracking and scent discrimination line-up exercises and that he had also testified as an expert in those fields (R 1885-1888). Stayer also vouched for the 'highly reliable' work that Harass II had done in the more than thirty-five (35) to forty (40) scent discrimination line-ups he had watched and conducted with Preston (R 1889-1890).

Given the testimony presented, it is clear that the standard for admissibility of dog-scent testimony announced in Davis, Tomlinson, and Edwards, was properly met in this cause. Harass II's ability to both track human beings and discover and differentiate human scents in line-up situations was well documented for the trial judge by individuals with personal knowledge - Preston and Stayer. Furthermore, the dog's intelligence, training, and purity of breed were also demonstrated for the trial court's consideration in determining the admissibility of the scent determination line-up evidence. Davis v. State, supra. The trial court was also informed of Harass II's success and the confirmation thereof in a number of previous situations and of the utilization of such evidence in previous cases. Edwards v. State, supra. Finally, it should be noted that both the pre-trial and trial testimony of all individuals present at the scent discrimination line-ups unambiguously points to the fact that Harass II showed no hesitation in correctly identifying both the knife found plunged into the victim and the victim's shirt as containing the same scent as that of the Appellant in each of two (2) separate tests. Id. See also, People v. Craig, 150 Cal. Rep. 676 (Ct. App. 3d 1979).

Finally, Ramos' apparent argument that the testimony regarding Harass II should not have been admitted because the dog did not alert on

Captain Pickel who had himself touched the cigarette pack obtained from the Appellant and used as the scenting article or because the dog did not alert on a chair allegedly sat in by the Appellant in the same room on the same day is totally without basis. Harass II, as explained by his traniner, is highly trained in the area of scent discrimination line-ups. In conducting such a line-up, the dog is necessarily focused on those particular items contained in the line-up, not on the room itself or other individuals contained therein unless they themselves are part of the line-up. Indeed, the purpose of the scent discrimination is to determine the presence of a particular scent on a particular item or items, and the dog is controlled by his handler in such a manner that his intention is concentrated on those particular items only as he is led past them. Accordingly, Appellant's effort to cloud the issue with allegations that the dog if properly trained and competent should have bounded around the courtroom chasing Captain Pickle or nuzzling chairs allegedly utilized by the Appellant hours earlier should be summarily rejected.

The trial court properly allowed the introduction of testimony as to the scent line-up involving Harass II, and no abuse of discretion has been shown to overturn his determination that a sufficient predicate of the dog's reliability had been shown. See, Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981) - the trial court has wide discretion in determining the admissibility of evidence.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY LIMIT CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE STATE WITNESS AT ISSUE.

ARGUMENT

Ramos initially contends that the trial court erred in "forcing" defense counsel to cross-examine State witness Gilmore without benefit of an errata sheet to his previous deposition. However, the State submits that it first should be noted that the defense's failure to procure the errata sheet at issue was not attributable to the trial court or the prosecution. Furthermore, the State had every right to call its witness and to examine him at the time it thought most appropriate, and defense counsel was afforded the opportunity to cross-examine him and did so. The fact that defense counsel had not obtained the errata from Gilmore's desposition did not affect his cross-examination for he questioned on the same manners upon which Gilmore was deposed (i.e., the circumstances surrounding his relating to the State certain statements made to him by Ramos) without difficulty. Indeed, as the trial judge noted, defense counsel could have questioned Gilmore at trial about any changes in his deposition testimony that were revealed in cross-examination (R 340-341).

Defense counsel's cross-examination was lengthy and in depth, and no prejudice is revealed on the record - other than mere speculation - attributable to the lack of an errata sheet (R 360-387, 394-395). Indeed, on appeal, Ramos fails to assert any specific showing of prejudice, i.e., demonstrate a particular "prior inconsistent statement" that he could not effectively cross-examine on or any other matter which could have affected

the outcome of his trial. Instead, he continues to make totally unsupported blanket assertions constituting nothing more than mere speculation as to potential prejudice. Accordingly, even if the trial judge's proper decision to allow the State to examine its own witnesses at the time it chose in its case was error, it must be considered harmless.

In fact, defense counsel could clearly have called Gilmore as his own witness to question him about any matters suggested by the changes made in the errata sheet (as they became aware of those changes the very next day) but chose not to do so.

Ramos also claims that his counsel's cross-examination was improperly limited because he was not allowed to question Gilmore on where he was taken to eat lunch during the trial. Apparently, defense counsel found some inherent bias in the fact that Gilmore was accompanied to a Ranch House restaurant during the trial; however, the prosecutor objected to the relevance of that question, and the trial judge agreed, determining that such a factor was not material:

MR. WOLFINGER: Clarence Muzynski was taken to Ping On, he was taken to Ranch House. Now, if that's not special treatment.

MR. MOXLEY: What does that have to do with anything?

MR. WOLFINGER: It's special treatment.

THE COURT: He cannot take him to the jail, and Idon't think there's anything material about where he went to lunch.

MR. WOLFINGER: It's not material to show he is getting special treatment for his testimony?

THE COURT: Not special treatment, it's not special, they take other people to restaurants, prisoners. One reason is because they don't want to put him in the jail, it's dangerous in the jail.

So, lunch no.

(R 386)

It is well established that the determination of the relevancy and materiality of evidence sought to be admitted at trial is a matter clearly within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the State submits the trial court's decision that the fact that the prisoner Gilmore was taken to a Ranch House restaurant for lunch was irrelevant, i.e., had no materiality to the cause as nonindicative of a special bias or treatment did not abuse that discretion. Indeed, Gilmore's Ranch House repast could well have been attributable to the taste of the law enforcement officer accompanying him. At any rate, the preclusion of this Ranch House testimony can hardly be considered to have had a substantial effect on the trial so as to justify reversal. § 924.33, Fla. Stat. (1981).

Similarly, Appellant's claim that his cross-examination of Gilmore as to 'prior incarcerations' was improperly limited is likewise without basis. Defense counsel asked Gilmore if he had been to prison three (3) times in the past. The prosecutor objected to the <u>form</u> of the question correctly noting that it was improper impeachment in that it dealt with prior incarcerations, no convictions. The trial judge agreed (R 362-365). § 90.610(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1981). At that point, defense counsel reformed his question and determined <u>for the jury's benefit</u> that Gilmore had been convicted three (3) times, and Ramos' attorney was also authorized by the trial court to bring out the fact that Gilmore was still on parole (R 365-366).

Where then is the prejudice to Ramos when the jury was in fact informed that he had been convicted three (3) times and that he was on parole? Obviously, from these facts the jury could infer that Gilmore

might try to avoid returning to prison through his testimony.

Accordingly, the error alleged (like the other evidentiary improprieties asserted by the Appellant) in refusing testimony as to "prior incarcerations" must be considered harmless since the jury was clearly made aware of Gilmore's previous convictions and the fact that he was on parole, thereby also informing them that he had been previously incarcerated. Indeed, the implication that Gilmore might be testifying to avoid further incarceration must already have been obvious to the jury from the other impeachment and cross-examination by defense counsel as to the charges pending against him and his jail status such that the bias inference sought was already well established. Reversal would clearly be inappropriate. § 924.33, Fla. Stat. (1981).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT CERTAIN EVIDENCE SOUGHT BY THE APPELIANT ON CROSS-EXAMINATION WAS IMMATERIAL; NO REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS OCCURRED.

ARGUMENT

The question of the extent of cross-examination allowable to show a witness' bias is one resting largely in the discretion of the trial court, and its rulings will not be disturbed in the absence of a showing of a clear abuse of that discretion. <u>Pandula v. Fonseca</u>, 145 Fla. 395, 199 So. 358 (1940).

In <u>Pandula</u>, the Court opined that the <u>material aspect</u> of testimony by an expert as to his compensation is in the fact that he <u>was compensated</u> thus showing bias. Accordingly, inasmuch as the jury was alerted to that potential bias, the trial court in that case did not abuse its discretion, and the defendants suffered no prejudice when the court refused to allow testimony as to the <u>exact amount</u> of that compensation. <u>See also</u>, <u>Langston v. King</u>, 410 So.2d 179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) - trial court's refusal to allow appellee's expert to be questioned as to specifics of agreement for compensation was harmless error.

Here as in <u>Pandula</u>, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding irrelevant the amount of per diem paid to Preston by the State for his scent discrimination line-up work and his in-court testimony. The jury was obviously made aware of the fact that Preston was paid both for his work and his testimony, and any potential bias was therefore revealed. Thus, no reversible error has occurred. <u>Langston v. King, supra;</u> § 924.33, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1981).

In addition, the State notes that inasmuch as the Appellant failed to proffer the specific testimony as to the amount of compensation paid Preston, he has failed to preserve the issue for intelligent appellate review since it is now impossible for this appellate court to evaluate even the possibility of prejudice to Ramos since the specific testimony excluded is not known. See, § 90.104(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1981); McD. v. State, 422 So.2d 336 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Ketrow v. State, 414 So.2d 298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Llamos v. State, 401 So.2d 848 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING TESTIMONY REGARDING THREATS MADE TO A STATE WITNESS WHERE SUCH TESTIMONY WAS INVITED BY PRIOR QUESTIONING BY DEFENSE COUNSEL AS TO THE WITNESS' BIAS AND WAS NECESSARY AND RELEVANT TO REBUT THAT TESTIMONY AS TO ALLEGED PROMISES AND BENEFITS INMATE WOULD RECEIVE FROM TESTIFYING.

ARGUMENT

Absent an obvious showing of error, this Court should not tamper with a trial judge's determination of admissibility. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 570 (Fla. 1983).

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